

Perspectives on Sámi participation shaping a Duty to Consult

Investigating problem representations and the opportunities to influence policy-making

Anna Andersson

Master thesis • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Urban and Rural Development Environmental Communication and Management - Master's Programme Uppsala 2021 Perspectives on Sámi participation shaping a Duty to Consult – Investigating problem representations and the opportunities to influence policy-making

Anna Andersson

Supervisor: Assistant supervisor: Examiner:	Sara Holmgren, SLU, Urban and Rural development Rasmus Kløcker Larsen, Stockholm Environment Institute, Governance and Institutions Helena Nordström Källström, SLU, Urban and Rural development
Credits:	30 credits
Level:	Second cycle, A2E
Course title:	Master thesis in Environmental science, A2E
Course code:	EX0897
Programme/education:	Environmental Communication and Management - Master's Programme
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Aquatic Sciences and Assessment
Place of publication:	Uppsala
Year of publication:	2021
Online publication:	https://stud.epsilon.slu.se
Keywords:	Indigenous rights, duty to consult, participation, FPIC, WPR approach, problem representations

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Urban and Rural Development Division of Environmental Communication

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file.

If you are more than one author you all need to agree on a decision. Read about SLU's publishing agreement here: <u>https://www.slu.se/en/subweb/library/publish-and-analyse/register-and-publish/agreement-for-publishing/</u>.

 $\Box \Box$ YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.

Abstract

Sweden has a longstanding reputation internationally for promoting and upholding human rights, however leading up to today the state has repeatedly received critique from international human rights bodies for failing to protect Sámi rights. Therefore the state has initiated the process of developing a duty to consult, which could potentially entail a fundamental change for Sámi rights in Sweden.

The development of a policy to strengthen Sámi rights has engaged a wide range of actors and generated an extensive debate. This thesis has examined the divergence in views on this clearly contested issue, and the factors that have held the government back from a law proposal that more fully respects Sámi rights.

An application of the WPR approach allowed the study to investigate underlying assumptions and understandings of Sámi participation within the government and among involved actors, and further how these understandings shaped the development of the duty to consult.

The findings show that the Swedish state's aspiration to strengthen Sámi rights falls short, as other interests are valued higher, resulting in a proposed duty to consult that does not fully provide the means for the Sámi people to influence decision-making processes regarding matters that concern them.

Keywords: Indigenous rights, duty to consult, participation, FPIC, WPR approach, problem representations

Table of contents

Abl	Abbreviations6		
1.	1. Introduction	7	
	1.1. Research problem	8	
	1.2. Research aim, objectives and questions	10	
2.	2. Background	12	
	2.1. International law on Indigenous rights	12	
	2.2. Sámi rights in Sweden	13	
	2.2.1. The Policy-making process of the Duty to Co	onsult15	
3.	3. Research design	17	
	3.1. Theory	17	
	3.1.1. What's the problem represented to be? The	WPR approach17	
	3.1.2. Analysis of data		
	3.2. Methodology	21	
	3.2.1. Data collection	21	
	3.2.2. Selection of actors and study limitations	21	
4.	4. Results and analysis	23	
	4.1. Problem representations – understandings of Sá	mi participation23	
	4.1.1. Identified problem representations		
	4.2. The referral bodies' influence on the developmer	nt of a Duty to Consult27	
	4.2.1. Who should represent the Sámi people in co	onsultations?27	
	4.2.2. How will the duty to consult affect decision-r	naking processes in terms of	
	time, money and resources?		
	4.2.3. How much influence should the Sámi people	e have in consultations?33	
5.	5. Discussion and conclusion		
Ref	References	43	
Acl	Acknowledgements	49	
Ар	Appendix 1		
Ар	Appendix 251		

Abbreviations

CAB	County administrative board	
FPIC	Free, prior and informed consent	
ILO No. 169	Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention	
RHC	Reindeer herding communities	
SEPA	The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency	
SGU	Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning	
SSR	Svenska Samernas Riksförbund	
UNDRIP	United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous	
	Peoples	
WPR	What's the problem represented to be?	

1. Introduction

Sweden has a longstanding reputation internationally for promoting and upholding human rights. However, historically and leading up to today Sweden faces problems with recognizing the Sámi as an indigenous people, with respect to indigenous rights, participation, and consultation, which is something that Sweden has repeatedly been criticized for by international human rights bodies. For instance, the Council of Europe (2003, 2013 and 2017) and the UN's Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (2013) have all raised critique towards Sweden for insufficient consultation with the Sámi and other national minorities, and for the lack of possibilities for the Sámi people to participate in decision-making processes regarding issues that concern them (Kulturdepartementet 2019).

The Sámi are the only indigenous people in Europe and their customary land Sápmi consists of a geographically large land area that overlaps the borders of northern Sweden, Norway, Finland and the Kola Peninsula of Russia. Reindeer herding, hunting, fishing and handicrafts are all examples of traditional Sámi practices. These are traditions, which in recent years have faced severe consequences due to the rapid development of natural resources exploitations in the Swedish Sápmi. The expanding number of new development projects within wind power, mining, and industrial forestry, hinders the possibilities for the Sámi people to practice traditional land use on territories to which they have constitutional rights to use. In specific it complicates the Sámis' practice of reindeer herding, and scholars have raised awareness that Swedish exploitation of natural resources in Sápmi could potentially have long-lasting negative consequences for the future of reindeer herding (Kløcker Larsen et al., 2017, Österlin & Raitio 2020).

After repeatedly receiving criticism from international human rights bodies for failing to protect Sámi rights, the Swedish government initiated the process of developing a duty to consult. With the purpose to enhance the opportunities for the indigenous Sámi people to influence decision-making processes regarding matters that concern them and traditional Sámi territories. Similar legislations already exist in Norway and Finland. Where in Norway the state has a duty to consult the Norwegian Sámi Parliament, and in Finland the government is obliged to consult the Finnish Sámi Parliament in accordance with the Sámi Parliament law from 1995 (Kulturdepartementet 2017).

In December 2020 a governmental proposition was presented to the Swedish Parliament, however the proposal was withdrawn in March 2021. The Sámi radio station *Sameradion* (2021) reported that,

The government's proposal lacks a majority in the constitutional committee after the Moderate Party, the Christian Democrats, the Sweden Democrats, and the Left Party rejected the proposal.

The Moderate Party, the Christian Democrats and Sweden Democrats rejected the proposal with the reasoning that consequences of a new legislation have not been thoroughly investigated. On another account the Left Party rejected the proposal as they considered that the law proposal did not provide enough influence for the Sámi people and did not live up to the requirements of international law on indigenous rights (ibid.). The arguments expressed by the Swedish political parties point to widely diverging perspectives on the issue, which is also representative for the actors' perspectives involved in this study.

1.1. Research problem

As discussed above, the process of developing a law to enhance indigenous rights is a response to the critique raised by international review bodies towards Sweden. The critique has shown the state in a bad light and depicts a picture incompatible with Sweden's reputation, as a country that protects and respects human rights. As articulated by the government itself the international pressure to recognize indigenous rights served as the main reason for why the Swedish government began the process of developing a duty to consult. This process was initiated in 2017 when the Ministry of Culture (Kulturdepartementet in Swedish) presented the governmental memorandum Ds 2017:43 Consultation in matters that affect the Sámi people. The governmental memorandum is the first out of three policy proposal texts leading up to the governmental proposition presented in 2020. Forsgren (2020) argues that a state, which cherishes indigenous rights, should have processes in place to enable effective participation and the free, prior and informed consent (FPIC) for its indigenous people. In Forsgren's thesis, which investigated the governmental memorandum's compatibility with international standards on indigenous rights. The conclusion reads that Ds 2017:43 does not fulfill the means to provide an environment for the Sámi to effectively participate in decision-making processes in accordance to international law on indigenous rights. Stockholm's University (2017) came to the same conclusion in their commentary, where they rejected the proposal:

The proposal does not live up to the requirements set out in international law on indigenous rights. Whereas Sámi rights risks being violated in the future as well. Consequently, Sweden continually risks receiving criticism from international bodies (Stockholms universitet 2017: 1).

This raises the question of how the duty to consult has developed throughout the process leading up to the governmental proposition in 2020. Is the Swedish state's ambition to respond to international critique incentive enough to enhance Sámi rights or are there other reasons or interests that are holding the state back?

If the law would enter into force this would entail far-reaching changes in Swedish decision-making processes. Kløcker Larsen & Raitio (2019) investigated what the current environment looks like among Swedish state actors and their prerequisites to implement a duty to consult. They argue that "implementation gaps linked to practice, sectoral legislation and political discourse" is probable to hinder Swedish state actors possibilities to effectively implement the duty. Their study provides insight to how state agency employees and Sámi communities perceive the possibilities to enhance Sámi participation if the law would enter into force in the near future. This research takes an important approach, as it enables an analysis of whether or not the proposed policy has the means to reach its stated purpose. However, the study's brief reading of the referral bodies' commentaries implies a research-gap waiting to be filled. Since the responsibility to implement a duty to consult in practice will be in the hands of Sámi actors, businesses and state agencies, it is important to understand and take their perspectives on the proposal into account.

In Swedish policy-making processes the stakeholders are invited to comment on law proposals before a decision is made, in so-called referral rounds. The function of a referral round is for the state to map existing attitudes on a matter and to provide engaged actors the opportunity to express their position in regard to the proposed bill (The Swedish Government Offices 2021). By looking at the commentaries from the referral rounds concerning the duty to consult, it is evidently several actors that have an interest in the matter. In addition to Sámi actors and state agencies the policy-process also involves actors from, e.g. the forestry sector, energy production, agriculture and private entrepreneurs. In other words, a wide representation of actors that holds different perspectives on the matter of indigenous participation in land use planning. The first referral round concerning Ds 2017:43 generated an extensive debate among the referral bodies. As Kløcker Larsen & Raitio (2019) observed,

In their commentaries, several corporations and their branch organizations found it overly progressive, creating new regulatory uncertainties and threatening industry interests. Sámi organizations and indigenous rights lawyers, in contrast, found it wanting – amongst other

things, arguing that it lacked proper recognition of Sámi material rights to property and culture and provided insufficient opportunities to meaningfully influence decisions. Although opinions were mixed, several Sámi organizations in fact rejected it altogether (p. 6).

Through their commentaries as referral bodies, these actors are highly involved in the development of a duty to consult, and in turn the process of enhancing the Sámis' ability to influence decision-making. Hence, the focus of this study will be to put attention towards the perspectives of involved actors' from different sectors, and further to explore how they have affected the development of the duty to consult.

1.2. Research aim, objectives and questions

A duty to consult could potentially entail a fundamental change for Sámi rights in Sweden, and as discussed earlier the opinions regarding the establishment of it are extensive. By looking at the debate on the law proposal, this study aims to disclose the involved actors' worldviews and perceptions, which underlie the opinions concerning this specific law proposal. In essence, I discern an opportunity to examine the divergence in views on this clearly contested issue, what factors may have held the government back from a law proposal that more fully respects Sámi rights, and what the contestation may tell us about the underlying interests and politics associated with the struggle over land and resources in the Swedish part of Sápmi.

Further, the study explores how involved actors have managed to influence the development of the duty to consult. This is done by a systematic analysis of the commentaries from the first and second referral round in comparison with the changes that have been made in the law proposal. The objective of the analysis is to shed light on which perspectives have been heard in the law proposal and where there are silences. This is relevant because investigating the actors' level of influence, by looking at which perspectives that 'stick' in the law proposal can disclose the power relations that govern how the state understands indigenous rights. Furthermore, it will highlight the possible implications these understandings have on the development of Sámi rights in Swedish policy-making.

Following the aim and objectives of this study, formulated research questions will be answered:

- 1. What does the government and the affected actors represent the problem to be in the process of strengthening Sámi rights?
- 2. How has the actors' problem representations shaped the development of the duty to consult?
- 3. Why have some problem representations become dominant over others, which problem representations 'stick' leaving others silenced?

2. Background

The aim of this chapter is to provide an overview of existing research on international law on indigenous rights, as well as on Sámi rights in Sweden and to give a background to the process of developing a duty to consult in Sweden.

2.1. International law on Indigenous rights

The recognition of indigenous rights internationally has increased in the last decades, for instance through the ILO Convention Concerning Indigenous and Tribal Peoples in Independent Countries (ILO No. 169) a convention that has been specifically instrumental in the development of international law on indigenous rights, and the UN's adoption of the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) in 2007, are both important instruments that address the human rights of indigenous peoples. The states duty to consult with indigenous peoples is grounded in international human rights law, and in particular in the overarching right for indigenous peoples right to self-determination, which entails the political power for a people to protect, preserve and develop their societal culture (Lawrence & Mörkenstam 2016).

Indigenous peoples have the right to self-determination. By virtue of that right they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development (UNDRIP 2007: 4).

Consultation and *effective participation* are central concepts in discussions of how a state can implement the indigenous peoples right to self-determination. Ward (2011) described the purpose of consultation and effective participation as "an exercise in and expression of the right to self-determination" (p. 55). According to international law on indigenous rights consultation should be understood as a political instrument facilitating a dialogue between a state and an indigenous people. In article 19 of UNDRIP (2007) it is stated that consultation should take place in "good faith" and should have the objective to obtain the indigenous peoples free, prior and informed consent (FPIC) on the matter that is the reason for consultation. In other words, a consultation procedure should not have the objective to only inform the indigenous community on a matter, rather the goal is

to reach an agreement or consensus regarding a matter (Anaya 2009). The state should also facilitate a consultation procedure, which enables the effective participation of the indigenous people through all stages of the process (Ward 2011). Meaning, that participation should be understood as having an influence on the outcome of a decision-making process. Furthermore, the indigenous people should be able to influence the form of the consultation, be provided with the possibility to hold consultations in their own spoken language, as well as other adaptations to ensure the exercise of indigenous participation rights.

Consultation and participation are seen as cornerstones in the ILO No. 169, and are perceived as key elements to secure the participatory rights for indigenous peoples. Participatory rights also have a central function in UNDRIP, in particular the principles of FPIC, in relation to development projects within indigenous peoples territories (Allard 2018, Ward 2011). According to Allard (2018) "The basic idea of FPIC is rather straightforward, but legally it is a contested and confused concept" (p. 26). Ward (2011) provides an explanation of the concept.

On a basic level, the concept of FPIC is contained within its phrasing: it is the right of indigenous peoples to make free and informed choices about the development of their lands and resources. The basic principles of FPIC are to ensure that indigenous peoples are not coerced or intimidated, that their consent is sought and freely given prior to the authorisation or start of any activities, that they have full information about the scope and impacts of any proposed developments, and that ultimately their choices to give or withhold consent are respected (p. 54).

In regard to international legal measures that the Swedish state are obliged to follow concerning indigenous rights, Sweden has voted in favor of UNDRIP and has also ratified the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities and the European Charter for Regional or Minority Languages (Anaya 2011). Sweden has not ratified ILO No. 169, however a state's duty to consult indigenous peoples should be understood as an obligation under international law (Allard 2018, Ward 2011), which in turn has led to Sweden's release of the law proposal Consultation in questions affecting the Sámi people.

2.2. Sámi rights in Sweden

In 1977 the Swedish Parliament recognized the Sámi as an indigenous people, but not until 2011 did they receive a constitutional recognition as a people something that had been requested by the Sámi for many years (Anaya 2011). This entails that Sweden consists of two people, the Swedish people and the Sámi people, both with a right to self-determination. Worldwide the Sámi people are known as a reindeer-herding people and in Swedish law it is only through the livelihood of reindeer herding the Sámi are recognized with practical land-based recognition. The reindeer herding is carried out on the lands of the Sámi reindeer herding communities (*from here on Sámi RHC, sameby in Swedish*) with rights based on prescription from time immemorial, which further entails that Sámi RHC are right-holding subjects (Beach 2007). The Sámi peoples' right to reindeer herding is regulated through the Reindeer Husbandry Act (1971:437) and in the Swedish Constitution (ch. 1, § 2) (Österlin 2020, Anaya 2011).

There exist different institutional approaches to how states implement the indigenous peoples right to self-determination. In the Nordic countries the approach was to create separate institutions to ensure the Sámi's political representation and self-determination. The elected representative body – the Sámi parliament (*or Sámediggi in Sami*) were established in Norway (1989), Finland (1995), and Sweden (1993) (Lawrence & Mörkenstam 2016). The Swedish Sámi parliament is a governmental agency under the Swedish government, but a differenence from other agencies is that the Sámi parliament has dual roles – functioning both as a representative body for the Sámi people and an administrative authority (ibid.).

One of the main reasons for why a duty to consult is needed in Sweden is the rapid increase of natural resource extraction and other development projects in the Swedish part of Sápmi, which is threatening the Sámi people's societal culture (Anaya 2011, Kløcker Larsen et al. 2020). Numerous stakeholders both governmental and private, appropriate the land in Sápmi for forestry, wind power, hydroelectric power, mining, bioenergy projects, as well as agriculture and urban development. The competing land claims of Sápmi are thus characterized of conflicting interests, most often evolving round economic interests opposed to indigenous rights (ibid.). National and international legal measures require the involvement of Sámi actors in processes for land use planning. In Sweden these measures usually take the form of samråd with Sámi actors, directly translated into English samråd means consultation, however the existing practice of samråd does not meet the requirements of consultations as understood in international law on indigenous rights. Current Swedish regulations and the means they have to achieve effective participation for the Sámi people are highly influenced by the government's understanding and application of indigenous rights (Österlin 2020). Despite the role of the Sámi parliament as political representative for the Sámi people and the constitutional recognition of a people in 2011 the Sámis' political power to influence matters concerning their traditional territories and livelihoods have continuously been reduced and are currently very limited, which have been extensively criticized by international human rights bodies.

The limited possibilities to affect decision-making have been the cause for conflicts and protests from Sámi groups, environmental organizations, and the general public. Most recently, Sámi and environmental activists initiated a blockade in Paharova and Juoksuvaara, Norrbotten County against the forestry company Sveaskog. The aim with the blockade was to protect biodiversity and strengthen Sámi activity (Extinction Rebellion 2021). The activists published this statement aimed towards Sveaskog on April 30th,

On the night of Friday 23 April, Sámi and non-Sámi activists from Skogsupproret, a branch of Extinction Rebellion, established a blockade against Sveaskog's forest machines Juoksuvaara, Norrbotten. They protest against the state forest company Sveaskog clearing natural forest and reindeer grazing land, without consultation or consent from the Sámi reindeer herding communities. They will not voluntarily leave the site until Sveaskog stops the devastation and allows the timber to return to nature and to Sámi activities (ibid.).

Lawrence (2014) argued, that indigenous protests against natural resource projects "are imbedded in a complex history of colonialism" (p. 1037). Meaning that it could be perceived that the Swedish state's reluctance to enable effective participation for the indigenous Sámi people, comes back to an unwillingness of the State to give up sovereignty and with it the ability to carry out large-scale extraction of natural resources on Sámi traditional lands.

2.2.1. The Policy-making process of the Duty to Consult

Claimed efforts to increase Sámi influence have been done by the Swedish state, such as the transfer of extended responsibilities concerning reindeer herding to the Sámi parliament in 2007. The UN Human Rights Committee (2009) understood this as a step in the right direction in terms of increasing Sámi influence. However, the Committee still questioned the limited possibilities for the Sámi parliament to influence decision-making processes and urged the Swedish state to develop legislation for consultation with the Sámi people. A first attempt to a bill dealing with the issues of lack of Sámi participation was developed in 2009. However the proposal received extensive critique from the Sámi parliament and legal scholars and was therefore withdrawn (Allard 2018). Furthermore, a crossborder initiative to develop a Nordic Sámi Convention was in recent years initiated by the three Sámi parliaments together with the governments' in Norway, Sweden and Finland. The Nordic Sámi Convention has not been implemented yet, but it has been acknowledged that this is the first time ever an attempt has been made to implement a regional agreement concerning an indigenous people (Anaya 2011). The Swedish government stated that the process of developing a Nordic Sámi convention and the international critique aimed towards Sweden has provided the incentive to once again investigate a legislation that will include consultation duties towards the Sámi people (Kulturdepartementet 2017).

The law proposal for a duty to consult has, as earlier mentioned, engaged a large number of actors, a total of 133 actors participated as referral bodies in the two referral rounds to comment on the government's law proposal. The process has included the Governmental memorandum (2017), draft to Law Council referral (2019), Law Council referral (2020) and the Governmental Proposition (2020). Furthermore, two referral rounds commenting on the memorandum and the draft to Law Council referral were included in the process. Firstly, the Ministry of Culture presented the governmental memorandum Ds 2017:43 *Consultation in matters that affect the Sámi people,* which was remitted to 144 actors, of which 96 commentaries were submitted (Kulturdepartementet 2020). After processing the commentaries from the referral bodies, the government presented the draft to Law Council referral in 2019. In a second referral round the draft was remitted to 157 referral bodies, whereby 107 commentaries were submitted (ibid.).



Figure 1. Timeline over the policy-making process of the Duty to Consult

3. Research design

This research is a qualitative study, which will examine the development of the process concerning the law proposal "Consultation in matters affecting the Sámi people" *(En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket, in Swedish)* (Kulturdepartementet 2020). Choosing a qualitative research design provides the possibilities to study how individuals and groups understand social problems and an in-depth understanding of the complexity of an issue (Creswell and Creswell 2018). The research conducted in this study is approached with a constructivist worldview. Typical for research with a constructivist approach is to understand how participants' give meaning to a situation and how they understand the circumstances in which they live and work (ibid.). A constructivist tends to raise open-ended questions about how actors understand their reality and is interested in how these understandings are constructed (Holstein and Gubrium 2008, see Silverman 2015). A constructivist approach and a qualitative research design has provided the means to investigate the phenomenon of how the involved actors give meaning to the duty to consult.

3.1. Theory

To examine the perspectives and interests involved in the debate over the proposed duty to consult I found guidance in Bacchi's (2009) 'What's the problem represented to be?' (WPR). Bacchi has further developed established methodologies within discourse theory and draws on Foucault's notions of discourse and governmentality.

3.1.1. What's the problem represented to be? The WPR approach

The WPR approach is intended as a tool to critically scrutinize public policy, by examining how problems are represented in different policies. The aim of the approach is to better understand policies and the forms of knowledge and assumptions that underlie proposed solutions in policies (Bacchi 2009).

Key concept – problematisation

Central for the WPR approach is the concept of problematisation, which is defined as how something is presented or put forward as a 'problem'. In this approach the word 'problem' is used to distinguish what is perceived to be in need of change. Policy proposals are filled with suggestions for change, which in turn, according to Bacchi refers to what the government understands as a problem that needs to be solved.

A key premise of the approach is that 'we are governed through problematisation' (Bacchi 2009: xxi). Thus, Bacchi argues that to make sense of how we are governed, it is crucial that we critically reflect on problematisations present in policies. Bacchi suggests, "characterization of the 'problem' is the place to start in order to understand how an issue is being understood" (ibid., xi), in other words to investigate problematisation in terms of how a problem is made into this specific kind of problem in a policy proposal (Bacchi & Goodwin 2016). When referring to the form of a problematisation at a specific site, for example a particular policy, Bacchi coined the term 'problem representation'. Bacchi's definition reads, "a problem representation refers to the understanding of the 'problem' implied in any policy or rule" (Bacchi 2009: xii). Furthermore, when an issue is declared as a problem in a policy text, this is invariably an act of reducing the complexity of an issue. Therefore the WPR approach calls attention to critically analyzing problematisations in policy proposals, for the reason to understand the perceptions of an issue, the story it tells, as well as which factors are included and which are left out of the proposal (ibid.).

Social construction of problems

The next step after identifying a problem representation is to unravel how it has been constructed, what assumptions and prerequisites have made it possible to develop a certain understanding of a problem. Bacchi understands problem representations as "elaborated in discourse" (ibid., 35). In a WPR approach the concept of discourse does not only refer to how language is used and is not applied to analyze text in the traditional sense of a discourse analysis. Rather, Bacchi views discourse as a way to analyze the 'truth status' of how something is though about. For instance how actors' speak about 'indigenous rights' is a socially constructed form of knowledge, thus making a certain understanding of 'indigenous rights' possible. Furthermore, the social construction of knowledge provides space for many competing constructions of how a problem should be understood. What role these competing knowledges have in terms of governing is a dominant theme in a WPR approach (ibid.) Bacchi makes the case that the government plays a privileged role since their understanding of a problem is in the end the problem representation that counts - since the government's problem representation and their solution to a problem is the one that will be constituted in legislation.

Most policy analysis approaches give policy the meaning of *solving* an already existing problem. In contrast, the WPR approach understands policies as *giving shape* to problems. Meaning that problems should not be understood as pre-existing, rather they are created within the policy-process alongside the development of matching solutions. Therefore, it is my interest and goal to understand how the problem of 'lack of Sámi participation in decision-making processes' has been shaped in the process of developing a duty to consult.

The WPR approach is a well-established and validated methodology for performing studies such as this one, which focus on critically analyzing public policies. Bacchi's book 'Analyzing policy' (2009) has been extensively used by other scholars, and has been cited over 2000 times on Google Scholar. An earlier application of Bacchi's theory that has inspired my study is Reimerson (2013) who applied the WPR approach to 'analyze indigenous peoples' role in nature conservation' (p. 992). The study's application of WPR helped to examine how the way problems are formulated within policies of nature conservation has an effect on the construction of indigenous subject positions, or identities. Furthermore, Reimerson investigated the political implications of discourse and how it governs what can be said about indigenous rights, political agency and nature conservation.

WPR an analytical framework

I have chosen to draw on the analytical framework developed by Bacchi as it provides concrete analytical tools to analyze policy text in relation to my research questions. In sum, the goal of the framework is to identify, reconstruct and interrogate problematisations, in order to understand how policy development works and further, how we are governed (Bacchi 2009). The approach carries a set of six questions, which have guided my reading of the material, and inspired my analytical approach to this study.

- 1. What's the 'problem' represented to be in the proposed bill on a duty to consult?
- 2. What presuppositions or assumptions underlie this representation of the 'problem'?
- 3. How has this representation of the 'problem' come about?
- 4. What is left unproblematic in this problem representation? Where are the silences? Can the 'problem' be thought about differently?

- 5. What effects are produced by this representation of the 'problem'?
- 6. How/where has this representation of the 'problem' been produced, disseminated and defended? How could it be questioned, disrupted and replaced?

Questions one and two are applied as proposed by Bacchi (2009). The remaining questions have inspired the development of two analytical questions, which have the purpose to analyze the referral bodies' suggestions for change in accordance to their problem representations. Moreover to investigate the changes the commentaries bring about in the development of the law proposal. The operationalization of the questions will be elaborated on in the next section.

3.1.2. Analysis of data

In the first part of the analysis, question one and two have been used as a foundation for the analysis. The first question, "What's the problem represented to be?" is straightforward and has the goal to identify problem representations (ibid.), which provides the starting point for the interrogation (Bacchi & Goodwin 2016). The question helps to define what understandings exist regarding Sámi participation in decision-making processes. The second question, "What presuppositions or assumptions underlie this representation of the 'problem'?" will help to examine the actors' background knowledge and the discourses lodged within the law proposal as well as the referral bodies' commentaries, with the purpose to understand how meaning of Sámi participation is created. Through a form of discourse analysis the aim is to identify and critically analyze key concepts and binaries in the texts (Bacchi 2009). Bacchi's second analytical question will provide the means to investigate how discourse shapes and make the actors' problem representations comprehensible. Further, question two will provide a lens to understand the involved actors worldviews and thus their perspective towards the duty to consult.

The second part of the analysis has as earlier mentioned the purpose to investigate the referral bodies' possibilities to shape the development of the duty to consult. Additionally, the interest of this study is to examine which problem representations are dominant in the development of the duty to consult. Drawing on Bacchi's (2009) analytical framework the second part of the analysis asks, *"How is the actors' problem representations featured in their suggestions for change?"*, and *"What effects do the actors' understanding of Sámi participation play in the role of developing the duty to consult?"*

3.2. Methodology

3.2.1. Data collection

Adopting the WPR approach allows the researcher to analyze a wide range of materials. What counts as policy documents can include all from interview transcripts, organizational documents, speeches, to budgets, etc. (Bacchi and Goodwin 2016). The empirical data included in this thesis consists of (see also figure 1): the governmental memorandum Ds 2017:43 (Kulturdepartementet 2017), the draft to Law council referral (Kulturdepartementet 2019) and the governmental bill (Kulturdepartementet 2020). Further, I will analyze commentaries submitted by referral bodies in the referral rounds from 2017 and 2019. The data used in this study are all available on the Swedish government's webpage, found under documents and publications.¹

3.2.2. Selection of actors and study limitations

A total of 133 referral bodies participated in the two referral rounds and 203 commentaries were submitted (Kulturdepartementet 2019). When selecting which referral bodies' commentaries I would include in the analysis, I firstly checked which referral bodies participated in both referral rounds, leaving me with a selection of 70 referral bodies. Thereafter I categorized the actors in accordance to which sector they belonged to, resulting in nine categories (see Table 1):

Organization type	Quantity
County administrative boards	6
Municipalities	10
Governmental agencies	25
Industry	9
Sámi	5
Human rights organization	2
Courts	3
Universities	5
Others	5

Table 1 Categorization of referral bodies and number of actors in each category

Out of these nine categories I selected five to include in the research; county administrative boards (CAB), municipalities, governmental agencies, industrial actors and Sámi actors. On the basis of the actors belonging to these categories would be in direct involvement of a possible implementation of a duty to consult.

¹ <u>https://regeringen.se/rattsliga-dokument/departementsserien-och-promemorior/2017/09/ds-201743/</u>

If the duty to consult becomes legislated, governmental agencies, municipalities and regions would all be obliged to consult Sámi representatives. In addition, matters that would require consultation would often involve industrial actors in the context of permit processes for exploration projects.

In a next step, I selected three referral bodies from each selected category. When I selected which referral bodies to include in my study, the aim was not to claim representativeness in sample. Rather, my goal was to obtain a solid spread of opinions, views and interests present among the referral bodies (see appendix 1 for the selection of referral bodies). When conducting the analysis of the referral bodies' commentaries, the texts were thoroughly read and thereafter their comments were mapped into different themes guided by Bacchi's analytical framework. From there I continued by examining connections between the commentaries from both referral rounds and the development of the law proposal.

Limitations

I have made some strategic research choices in how I have limited and thereby focused my research, due to time constraint and limited resources, as well as knowledge gaps. I have not been able to cover all material that concerns the policy proposal of a duty to consult. Therefore a selection of the referral bodies' commentaries has been made. Further, out of the four governmental policy texts (see figure 1) I decided to not include the Law Council referral in my analysis. After reading through all policy texts I realized that the Law council referral is practically identical to the governmental proposition, which is the policy text that the Parliament based their decision on. Further, I have not analyzed all paragraphs in the policy texts, thus all issues of the proposal of a duty to consult are not covered. The law proposal covers complex juridical issues, and as a master student in environmental communication it is not part of my field to critically reflect and study those juridical issues. Lastly, I am aware that my subjective position can have affected the analysis in this study, as interpretative studies are shaped by the researcher's own understandings and background knowledges.

4. Results and analysis

4.1. Problem representations – understandings of Sámi participation

In the first part of the analysis the objective is to understand which problem representations are present in the governmental memorandum Ds 2017:43, and in the referral bodies' commentaries. To provide an overview of the problem representations identified in this study, these have been gathered in Table 2 (see appendix 2).

4.1.1. Identified problem representations

In this chapter the meaning of the identified problem representations will be presented together with a discussion of the assumptions and background knowledge that have shaped the actors understanding of the problem.

Measures need to be taken to strengthen Sámi influence

Sweden's relations with the Sámi people have, as covered earlier in this thesis, been the cause for international critique from human rights bodies, which in turn has led to the problematisation that lack of Sámi participation, is a problem that needs to be dealt with. The critique aimed towards Sweden doesn't correspond with how the state depicts itself, as a country that "aspires to be a clear voice for human rights around the world – not just in words but also in actions" (Diab 2020). The 'negative image of Sweden's management of indigenous rights' (Table 2, line 5, appendix 2) has been identified as a problem representation in the governmental memorandum. The state cannot simply ignore the critique of not recognizing Sámi rights, therefore the development of a duty to consult is perceived as a solution to counteract this negative image of the state.

A majority of the actors included in this study, share the broader understanding that 'measures need to be taken to strengthen Sámi influence in decision-making processes' (table 2, line 2, appendix 2). The problematisation pinpoints that Sweden needs to recognize Sámi rights in complex land use issues, where the

Sámi people are currently fighting for effective participation. Further, that 'FPIC must be the basis for indigenous rights legislation in Sweden' (table 2, line 1, appendix 2) is a problem representation identified in the Sámi referral bodies' commentaries as well as in Dorotea and Åre municipalities' commentaries. They perceive that Swedish law concerning indigenous rights is in immediate need of development to be able to meet international standards.

The background knowledge shaping the Sámi actors' understanding of the issue is grounded in years of experience participating as stakeholders in dialogue with corporate organizations; mining, forestry companies etc. The underlying assumption is that the government does not respect or recognize indigenous peoples rights in current legislations, which is why a duty to consult is needed. In terms of, providing a platform where Sámi representatives can be in direct dialogue with the government, participating as rights-holders, which they are entitled too according to indigenous law. Further, free, prior and informed consent (FPIC) should be the basis when developing a duty to consult to ensure that the Sámi people are provided with a strong instrument to influence decision-making in matters that concern them.

The responsibility of achieving change that recognizes the Sámi people's rights lies upon the government. The state has a central role in developing decision-making processes that shall foster meaningful collaboration between the involved actors. In Ds 2017:43 the government stated:

The most central (of a duty to consult) is the possibility of influence by allowing the Sámi to develop their views on the matter, which is a way of strengthening the Sámis' influence on decisions of special importance for them (p. 40).

Additionally, the government argues that a duty to consult is important for the improvement of the governmental bodies understanding of Sámi perspectives. Thus providing the means for governmental bodies to acquire all kinds of knowledge in order to make well-informed decisions, which includes an understanding of the consequences a decision might entail for the Sámi communities.

There is no problem

On the other side of the coin, the study has identified problem representations in the commentaries of LRF, Vattenfall, Kiruna municipality and Bergsstaten, relating to the understanding that 'current Swedish legislation is enough to ensure effective participation for the Sámi people' (table 2, line 8, appendix 2). In other words, the 'problem' is that there is no problem and thus no need to implement a duty to consult. The underlying assumption of the problem representation is frankly the denial of the problem representation outlined by the government, based on the international critique – there is no lack of Sámi participation. Rather, some of the actors indicate the understanding that 'the authorities should be objective in decision-making processes and not give one actor extra consideration' (table 2, line 9, appendix 2), meaning the Sámi people should not be provided with extended rights to promote their interests.

A central problem representation among several referral bodies as well as in the governmental memorandum is the perception that 'consensus is hard to reach in decision-making processes concerning land-use issues, due to conflicting interests' (table 2, line 10, appendix 2). This problem representation is crucial to unravel as the problematisation radically speaks against the purpose of a duty to consult. With the lens of the WPR framework it provides insights of how the government, the industrial actors, SGU & Bergsstaten and the Forest agency display a lack of trust in communication as means for problem solving:

Vattenfall believes that in many cases it's not realistic to reach agreement with the Sámi Parliament or Sámi RHC on exploitations. For example, Vattenfall has in several cases applied for a permit to build wind farms in northern Sweden. The Sámi Parliament has never approved such an application. The affected Sámi RHC often also opposes the wind farms (Vattenfall 2017: 2).

Working backwards from the problem representation, as suggested by Bacchi, helps to disclose how the actors' background knowledge has given consultation procedures this meaning. In the example of Vattenfall, their understanding of the issue is shaped by previous experiences where Sámi actors have opposed their permits (similar examples can also be found in the commentaries by the other industrial actors'). The social construction of knowledge has led to the actors' rejection of the law proposal and a lack of faith in dialogue. Further, the knowledge of conflicting interests shapes the understanding of consultations depicted as 'time consuming processes, which can become harmful for businesses in Sweden' (table 2, line 7, appendix 2).

In contrast, Kiruna Sameförening, the Environmental protection agency and Västerbotten's CAB recognize that dialogue and knowledge of indigenous rights, plays an important role to manage the complex issues of land use planning on Sámi traditional territories. The identified problem representation understands that 'fundamental knowledge about indigenous- and Sámi rights is lacking' (table 2, line 4, appendix 2). For a duty to consult to achieve its purpose there is a need to enhance both competence and knowledge among involved actors. In addition, actors perceive 'a need to improve the agencies understanding of the Sámi peoples perspectives and vice versa' (table 2, line 6, appendix 2). For the reason that the dialogue between the actors need to become more constructive, in order to improve the conflict situation.

Going back to the understanding that 'current legislation is enough' (table 2, line 8, appendix 2), this problem representation can also be understood as elaborated in the discourse of economic profitability. Within the law proposal and the industries commentaries the importance of industrial development projects are promoted, due to their financial contribution to Swedish infrastructure. Thus, judging by the economic value of various activities, the value of resource extraction is compared against the profitability of reindeer husbandry and other Sámi livelihoods. The problematisation shaped by economic interests, leads to the assumption that extended rights for the Sámi people would entail set backs for the industry. Since, if Sweden would implement a duty to consult in accordance to international law, this would require the Sámis' consent in order to initiate an exploration project on Sámi traditional territories. Which in turn shapes the understanding that solving the problem of lack of Sámi participation would become a 'threat to the industries access to land' (table 2, line 12, appendix 2).

The mining industry is dependent on access to land to be able to operate and develop both existing and new mining projects. This in turn is necessary to provide for society with various metals and minerals that are used and needed daily (Svemin AB 2017: 1).

The possible limitations to the industries access to land further shapes Vattenfall and LRF's perspective that 'Sweden needs to prioritize the implementation of environmental goals'. Österlin & Raitio (2020) have observed a 'strong policy push' to extract resources in the northern areas for in particular wind energy. "As a renewable energy source (wind energy), it is considered as a key part of the solution for national environmental objectives concerning reduced greenhouse gas emissions" (p. 9). As argued by the actors, the territories of northern Sweden are crucial for the development of green energy.

The government expressed similar concerns in Ds 2017:43, in terms of land planning management and the possible consequences enhanced Sámi influence could have on Swedish infrastructure:

If consent would be required for the validity of a decision, it could lead to far-reaching socioeconomic consequences in regard to larger projects. Such projects can often be detrimental to reindeer husbandry or other Sámi interests (Kulturdepartementet 2017: 74).

Lastly, a number of referral bodies have expressed that the possible implementation of a duty to consult, would be problematic due to 'underfunding and difficulties to cope with an increased workload' (table 2, line 3, appendix 2). The numbers of permit processes are steadily increasing and the Sámis' have limited resources to participate in all processes that might affect them. Previous research has shown that Sámi communities face a 'tyranny of participation' (Österlin & Raitio 2020). As these authors argue the Sámi peoples' low level of

influence forces them to participate in as many permit processes as possible, since that serves as the only option to influence decision-making processes. If a duty to consult would be implemented this would entail a large increase of consultations for the Sámi. Thus, shaping the Sámi actors understanding of the problem that more resources are needed to be able to participate and enhance their influence. Furthermore, as presented in Table 2 the CABs, the majority of the municipalities as well as the Environmental protection agency share the understanding that lack of resources is an underlying issue of enhancing Sámi participation.

4.2. The referral bodies' influence on the development of a Duty to Consult

The second part of the analysis will have the objective to answer these two analytical questions: "How is the actors' problem representations featured in their suggestions for change?", and "What effects to the actors' understanding of Sámi participation play in the role of developing a duty to consult?"

I have selected three paragraphs from the governmental memorandum Ds 2017:43 that I will investigate to determine how these parts of the proposal have developed throughout the process. I selected the paragraphs by looking at which matters that were mainly discussed by the referral bodies, the selection was a result of a thorough reading of the referral bodies' commentaries. Where I, with help of the identified problem representations compiled in Table 2, coded the referral bodies' suggestions for change in accordance to identified problem representations. Each problem representation in Table 2 was given a color, which I then used to color code the commentaries. Resulting in an overview of which issues that was discussed by the referral bodies. Further, the aim of my selection was to cover different types of issues at stake, as well as different perspectives regarding the issues covered within the chosen paragraphs.

I will now proceed by approaching one paragraph at a time with the aim to answer the analytical questions presented above.

4.2.1. Who should represent the Sámi people in consultations?

The state's focus in § 2 was to introduce which actor or actors that should be understood as representatives for the Sámi people, to which consultations should be implemented with. Ds 2017:43, § 2

When the government, a state administrative authority, a county administrative board or a municipality handles a matter that may have special significance for the Sámi people, consultation with the Sámi Parliament as a representative of the Sámi people shall take place before a decision in the matter.

When the matter may have special significance for an Sámi organization or an Sámi reindeer herding community, these must also be consulted, if there are reasons for it (Kulturdepartementet 2017: 5).

The state proposed that the Sámi parliament should primarily take on the role as representative. For the reason that the Sámi parliament is an organ elected by the Sámi people and has great experience dealing and managing Sámi matters (Kulturdepartementet 2017). Furthermore, the state declared that there would be no obligations to consult all Sámi actors' that have an interest in a certain matter, since this would entail a far too complex and time-consuming system. Therefore, § 2 includes the phrase that Sámi RHC or an Sámi organization should be consulted *if there are reasons for it* (ibid.).

All Sámi referral bodies opposed this part of the proposal. It was questioned why the state suggests a higher threshold to consult Sámi RHC in relation to the Sámi parliament. SSR and Kiruna Sameförening (2017) claimed that the state does not recognize the Sámi RHC legal status as rights holders, since the proposal does not promote the Sámi RHC to exercise their right to self-determination. The referral bodies' reaction towards the state's proposal derives from the assumption 'that measures need to be taken to strengthen Sámi influence in decision-making processes' (table 2, line 2, appendix 2). Accordingly, the Sámi parliament's (2017) understanding of the issue led to their motion that the phrase *if there is reason for it* needs to be cut from the proposal.

In comparison, a number of referral bodies found that the state's suggestion that consultations might be implemented with other Sámi actors apart from the Sámi parliament, was too extensive and implied that consultations should only be implemented with the Sámi parliament (LRF 2017, Västerbotten CAB 2017, Bergsstaten 2017, the Forest Agency 2017). LRF stated, "that consultation should take place with more organizations than the Sámi parliament is clearly inappropriate" (LRF 2017: 7). Further, LRF considered that Sámi RHC and Sámi organizations should not receive the status as representatives of the Sámi people, since arguably they cannot be considered to represent the Sámi people interests in a broader perspective.

Developments after the referral rounds

In the government's draft to Law Council referral (2019) the matter of who should represent the Sámi people in consultations is covered in § 2 and § 7. When comparing the paragraphs with § 2 in Ds 2017:43, it becomes clear that the government has listened and incorporated the commentaries from the Sámi referral bodies (2017).

The Sámi parliament's (2017) suggestion to exclude if there are reasons for it from the policy text was adhered by the government. This is an important alteration as it provides Sámi RHC and Sámi organizations an independent right to consultation with governmental bodies. Further, this shows that in this matter the problem representation that 'measures needs to be taken' was instrumental in the development of who should represent the Sámi people in consultations. The government's alteration entails that there may be occasions where consultations need to be carried out with multiple Sámi representatives (Kulturdepartementet 2019). This development goes against the commentaries of LRF, Bergsstaten, the Forest Agency and Västerbottens' CAB from 2017. In the second referral round only Västerbotten's CAB and LRF expressed a maintained position that consultations should exclusively take place with the Sámi parliament. Underlying assumptions of that there is no problem of lack of Sámi participation has arguably shaped these actors positioning towards the matter of Sámi representatives. For instance, Västerbotten's CAB (2019) pointed to already existing forums where Sámi RHC are provided the opportunity to express their opinions, thus in their opinion making it unnecessary to include Sámi RHC and Sámi organizations in a duty to consult.

In the governmental proposition (2020) the wording concerning this matter is to a great extent identical to the Draft to Law Council referral (2019). The only exception is the addition of the requirement towards Sámi organizations to register their interest to participate in consultations. If an organization has registered their interest and the matter has significance when considering its purpose under statues, an Sámi organization shall also be consulted (Kulturdepartementet 2020).

4.2.2. How will the duty to consult affect decision-making processes in terms of time, money and resources?

Ds 2017:43, § 5

A consultation shall take place in the form desired by the Sámi Parliament. The consultation may, however, take place in another form if the desired form entails significant inconvenience in the handling of the case or if the purpose of the consultation can still be achieved. (...) The Sámi Parliament shall be given a reasonable time to gather the necessary information about local conditions and to otherwise prepare a consultation (Kulturdepartementet 2017: 6).

In § 5 of the proposal we can find two important segments, which are crucial for the possibility to enhance Sámi influence in decision-making processes. Firstly, a Sámi representative should be provided with reasonable time before a decision-making process to be able to make an informed decision, which is one of the basic principles of FPIC. Secondly, § 5 proposes that the Sámi parliament should decide the form of the consultation, by reason of distinguishing consultation from *samråd*. However, exceptions can be made if the Sámi parliament's desired form would cause inconveniences *or even* if it wouldn't cause inconvenience in the handling of a case.

The general administrative interest in a time-efficient handling of cases must also be taken into account in this context. The consultation shall therefore be allowed to take place in a form other than the form desired by the Sámi Parliament.

Even if the Sámi Parliament's proposal for a form of consultation does not entail inconvenience of significance for the processing of the case, the consultation can therefore take place in another form if the purpose of the consultation can still be achieved (Kulturdepartementet 2017: 67).

In other words, the state's effort of providing the Sámi representatives the opportunity to influence the form of the consultation is very restricted, due to the state's prioritization of implementing time-efficient consultations.

The duty to consult would increase the workload for all

In terms of resources needed to implement a duty to consult, the state estimated that there wouldn't be any need to increase resources for the involved actors (Kulturdepartementet 2017). An estimation based on the assumption that CABs', municipalities and governmental agencies already have established, and achieved well functioning working routines for consultations (*samråd*) with the Sámi people. The state's estimation is more or less criticized by all referral bodies, pointing to that an implementation of a duty to consult would cause prolonged decision-making processes, extended costs, and an increase in workload.

However, the perspectives on this issue are developed from a diverse set of problem representations.

In the case of the industrial actors and SGU & Bergsstaten (2017), the issue is understood in terms of 'complex and time consuming decision-making processes are harmful to Swedish infrastructure' (table 2, line 7, appendix 2). Vattenfall (2017) argued, that a duty to consult could entail severe consequences for Vattenfall's business and in the long run also for Swedish infrastructure, due to the risk of delayed and costly permit processes. In accordance with the problem representation, SGU & Bergsstaten (2017) argue that the Sámi parliament should not be provided with the means to decide on the format of the consultations. Instead, they suggest that written consultation procedures should be standard and oral consultations should only be granted in special cases. Lastly, Svemin (2017) urges that the proposal should be supplemented with time limits for how long a consultation can proceed and a deadline for Sámi actors to respond to whether consultation is desired or not.

Another understanding of the issue is that, 'underfunding would complicate the implementation of a duty to consult' (table 2, line 3, appendix 2). Norrbotten's CAB (2017) problematized the Sámi parliament's proposed mandate to decide on the format of consultations, pointing to the risk of increased costs and resources. For instance, they raise the consequences of higher costs if consultations would take place at the Sámi Parliament's offices in Kiruna. Or the need for more resources if it is decided that consultations should be conducted in Sami, leading to an increase of translation or interpreting efforts. Furthermore, referral bodies expressed concerns related to the implementation of time-efficient consultations referring to the Sámi parliament's limited amount of resources (Norrbotten CAB 2017, Västerbotten CAB 2017, Vattenfall 2017). Followed by the suggestion that the Sámi parliament should be strengthened with more personnel to be able to manage the increased workload a duty to consult would entail.

SSR's (2017) underlying assumption that 'FPIC must be the basis for indigenous rights in Sweden' (table 2, line 1, appendix 2) shapes their understanding that monetary resources and time is crucial to ensure effective participation, in accordance to indigenous law. The Sámi referral bodies advocate that the state needs to provide more resources to Sámi actors, for them to be able to meet the aim of the law proposal (Sámi parliament 2017, Kiruna Sameförening 2017, SSR 2017).

Measures to ensure efficiency

In the government's draft to Law Council referral (2019) the matter of how a duty to consult would affect the decision-making process is covered in § 8 and § 9.

After the referral round in 2017 one major difference can be found in the Draft to Law Council referral (2019).

Draft to Law Council referral, § 9

The authority liable for consultation decides on what form the consultation shall be implemented but shall as far as possible satisfy the Sámi Parliament's wishes for form of consultation (Kulturdepartementet 2019: 6).

No longer will the Sámi parliament decide the format of the consultation. This is a result from the negative response expressed (according to the state) by SGU & Bergsstaten, Norrbotten CAB, Svemin AB, and Kiruna Sameförening (2017). The first three actors have indeed opposed the suggestion, however the government wrongfully states that Kiruna Sameförening has opposed the suggestion. Nowhere in their commentary have they expressed that an Sámi representative should not decide on the format of the consultation.

The state's alteration is in disagreement with the problem representation that 'measures need to be taken to strengthen Sámi influence'. The Sámi parliament (2019) opposed the state's decision, which deprives the Sámi representatives the right to decide the format for consultations. They implied that deciding the format could be an important instrument to ensure effective participation for the Sámi people. Further, they call attention to the negative attitudes towards the proposed duty to consult, which became apparent after the first referral round. The Sámi parliament highlighted that if Sámi representatives aren't provided with the means to secure the circumstances for Sámi participation in consultations, they fear that actors who do not share their understanding of what effective participation means could exploit the situation of deciding the format.

In regard to the critique raised about prolonged decision-making processes, the state agrees with the understanding that 'complex and time consuming decision-making processes are harmful to Swedish infrastructure' (table 2, line 7, appendix 2). Therefore, Svemin's (2017) request for time limits to ensure time-efficiency is incorporated in the development of the duty to consult. Furthermore, the state has developed the proposal by suggesting an implementation of simultaneous consultations with Sámi actors, with the purpose to make the processes more time-efficient. With the lens of the WPR approach, I argue that the state's suggestion on how to solve the problem is an act of reducing the complexity of the issue. The state does not critically reflect upon how this would affect the Sámi actors' possibilities to influence the decision-making process. For instance, if Sámi actors have differentiating perspectives on a matter, one consultation involving several Sámi actors could rather complicate the consultation process than making it time-efficient.

What about resources?

Despite the extensive amount of commentaries problematizing the lack of resources to implement a duty to consult, the government maintains their position from Ds 2017:43 that financial consequences will be at a minimum (Kulturdepartementet 2019). Several referral bodies oppose the government's conclusion to not provide resources to involved actors, and in particular that resources won't be provided to Sámi actors (Sámi parliament 2019, SSR 2019, Jämtland's CAB 2019, and SEPA 2019). The understanding expressed by the referral bodies is that effective Sámi participation will be difficult to achieve if they aren't provided with the necessary resources. It would especially limit the possibilities for Sámi RHC and Sámi organizations to participate in consultations (Sámi parliament 2019, SSR 2019, Jämtland's CAB 2019, SSR 2019, Jämtland's CAB 2019, SSR 2019, Furthermore, Vattenfall (2019) once again stress that lack of resources for Sámi actors would inhibit the possibility for time-efficient decision-making processes.

In the governmental proposition (2020), the state has still not changed their position about resources. As a response to the commentaries, which urged the state to supplement resources to Sámi RHC and Sámi organizations, the government states:

The proposal entails a right for Sámi RHC, not a duty to participate in consultations, and the Sámi RHC can be expected to request consultation only in matters that have special significance for them (Kulturdepartementet 2020: 137).

Sámi RHC are recognized as rights-holders by Swedish law, it is therefore very problematic that the state does not take the measures to provide resources to enable their effective participation.

4.2.3. How much influence should the Sámi people have in consultations?

In this selected paragraph, the state frames how much influence the Sámi people will be given in consultations. Further, the state gives meaning to consensus and consent, which are important concepts within indigenous international law.

Ds 2017:43, § 6

The consultation shall take place in good spirit and consensus or consent in the matter that prompted the consultation shall be sought. At the consultation, both parties shall state their reasoned position on the matter and comment on the other party's position. The consultation shall then continue until consensus or consent has been reached or until the authority or the Sámi Parliament declares that consensus or consent cannot be reached in the matter. However, the consultation must always be concluded in good time before the matter must be decided by the consulting authority in accordance with provisions of law or regulation (Kulturdepartementet 2017: 6).

In the governmental memorandum the state declared their understanding of *consensus* as reaching agreement on how a matter should be dealt with. Whereas, *consent* is understood by the state as reaching a compromise, a solution that the Sámi representative might not agree with, but they can accept it. In § 6 it is declared that consultations should sought consensus or consent, which is in line with the international development of indigenous law (Ward 2011). However, § 6 also includes the disclaimer, if one of the participating actors declares that consent or consensus can't be reached in a matter, the consultation can be concluded. Furthermore, a consultation that doesn't reach consensus or consent would have no implications for the decision-making process. As the proposed duty to consult would not require an Sámi representative's consent for a decision to be considered as valid (Kulturdepartementet 2017).

The state's understanding of how to deal with the issue of lack of Sámi participation, results in a proposal that claims enhanced influence is achieved when the Sámi are provided with the means to express their perspective on a matter. As the state puts it themselves,

The purpose of the proposed duty to consult is above all to get an idea of the Sámi's perspective on the matter in question, which the authority can take into account in its decision; the Sámi will have a co-influence (ibid., 40-41).

The problem representation that there is 'a need to improve the agencies' understanding of the Sámi peoples perspectives and vice versa' (table 2, line 6, appendix 2), I argue has only partly shaped the state's understanding of what the purpose of enhancing Sámi influence entails. The state's underlying assumption is that enhanced dialogue in the form of consultations with Sámi representatives will improve the management of complex land use issues. Therefore, the state does not see the need to follow the principles of FPIC, where indigenous communities should be provided the right to withhold consent.

"The proposal does not meet international law on indigenous rights"

A number of suggestions for change from the first referral round is shaped by the understanding that 'measures need to be taken to strengthen Sámi influence in decision-making processes' (table 2, line 2, appendix 2) and that 'FPIC must be the basis for indigenous rights in Sweden'. Firstly, SSR and the Sámi parliament opposed that Sámi actors aren't provided the opportunity to initiate consultations, which in Ds 2017:43 only governmental bodies had the means to do. The Sámi parliament (2017) states that they will not endorse a law proposal that doesn't provide Sámi actors the right to initiate consultations. In terms of indigenous peoples right to self-determination, SSR and the Sámi parliament argued that the

Sámi people should have an influence in determining which matters that has special significance for them.

Secondly, the matter of consent and the state's understanding that there is no need to obtain consent from an Sámi representative before making a decision. Is strongly opposed by all Sámi actors together with Åre and Dorotea's municipality. The critique is centered round the state's poor understanding and application of indigenous law. Kiruna Sameförening (2017) questioned the government's understanding of FPIC,

The government's view is that the principle (FPIC) in no way constitutes a right of veto, but that it is an important one method/principle in order to ensure real consultation and dialogue (Kulturdepartementet 2017: 17).

Kiruna Sameförening stress that the government understanding of FPIC is inadequate, stating that the meaning of *free, prior and informed consent* implies far more than a way to ensure constructive dialogues.

"The proposal goes against the principle of equality before the law"

Only one referral body, the Forest agency (2017), expressed their agreement with the government on this matter. Moreover, they suggested a supplement to the policy text that clarifies that an Sámi representative's consent is not necessary to validate a decision. Vattenfall and LRF (2017) also argue in line with the government's suggestion to not require the Sámi peoples consent in decisionmaking processes, grounded in the problem representation that 'authorities should be objective in decision-making and take all interests into account' (table 2, line 9, appendix 2). Although, Vattenfall and LRF took it a step further and advocated that consensus or consent should not be sought at all in consultations. Their reactions towards the proposal concern questions of equality, and in what ways a duty to consult would affect other non-Sámi actors' opportunities to influence decision-making processes. They questioned if the authorities could uphold impartiality if they were required to seek consensus or consent with Sámi actors who represent a particular interest. Both Vattenfall (2017) and LRF (2017) perceive the government's proposed consultation procedure as unacceptable, and argued that it would go against the principle of equality before the law.

The current proposal means that Sámi interests are given such extended rights influence over a large number of decision-making processes that others lack. The proposal goes a long way in addition to what is reasonable, appropriate and necessary (LRF 2019: 3).

The positioning of these actors represents a contradiction to the very idea of a duty to consult. In order to address issues of inequality it is substantial to provide

a platform where issues of inequality can be addressed. A space where marginalized groups, in this case the Sámi people, are recognized and heard.

Developments of the proposal in the draft to Law Council referral

In line with the commentaries written by SSR, the Sámi parliament, Åre and Dorotea municipality (2017), the proposal developed and included the right for Sámi representatives to initiate consultations. The state agreed with the reasoning that Sámi actors are the ones with most knowledge of which matters that would have special significance for them. Further, it is understood that the right to initiate consultation will provide more influence to the Sámi people in a duty to consult (Kulturdepartementet 2019).

The problem representation that 'authorities should be objective in decisionmaking' (table 2, line 9, appendix 2) resulted in an alteration in the proposed policy text. After receiving the critique from LRF, the Forest agency and Vattenfall (2017), the state recognized that the suggestion that consultations should sought consensus or consent with the Sámi representatives is incompatible with the Instrument of Government and the principle of equality before the law (Kulturdepartementet 2019). Therefore, the draft to Law council referral does no longer include that consultations should sought consensus or consent with Sámi representatives. In the second referral round Vattenfall, SGU, and the Forest Agency (2019) all communicated their content towards the state's alteration. In particular Vattenfall were positive that it had become even clearer in the proposal that consultations can be terminated if a participating actor declares that consensus or consent cannot be reached.

In contrast to the actors that understand that a duty to consult could lead to inequalities. SSR (2019) opposed the state's development of the policy text, in accordance to their problem representation that 'measures need to be taken to strengthen Sámi influence' (table 2, line 2, appendix 2). SSR perceives seeking consensus or consent as a crucial part of a duty to consult, as it serves as an instrument to ensure influence for the Sámi people. However, SSR's commentary did not have the power to achieve change in this matter, the suggestion to retract the alteration was disregarded by the state (Kulturdepartementet 2020).

In the governmental proposition (2020), the state presented an alternative solution of how to ensure the Sámi peoples' effective participation in decision-making processes. By declaring that with a fluid approach the Sámi perspective will be given great importance in decision-making processes.
Meaning that the Sámi perspective should be weighed in, in accordance to the assessment of how much they will be affected by a decision. The greater the consequences are for the Sámi people the more attention should be given to their interests in relation to other actors' interests (Kulturdepartementet 2020).

5. Discussion and conclusion

In the following chapter, I will discuss the results and answer the three research questions of the study: "What does the government and the affected actors represent the problem to be in the process of strengthening Sámi rights?", "How has the actors' problem representations shaped the development of the duty to consult?", and lastly "Why have some problem representations become dominant over others, which problem representations 'stick' leaving others silenced?"

Looking at the first question, "What does the government and the affected actors represent the problem to be in the process of strengthening Sámi rights?", the findings show a number of issues that were perceived as problematic concerning Sámi participation and a duty to consult. These identified problem representations have provided insights in why a duty to consult is needed and what factors have held the government back from developing a law proposal that more fully respects Sámi rights. The problem representations that I found most central in the development of the duty to consult are presented below.

Firstly, the state's aspiration to repair the negative image of how Sweden governs indigenous rights has been instrumental in developing a duty to consult. Having started from a shared understanding with a majority of the referral bodies, that 'measures needed to be taken to strengthen Sámi influence in decision-making processes' (table 2, line 2, appendix 2). The process of developing a duty to consult has however discerned conflicting perspectives among the referral bodies, which in turn have influenced the state's understanding of Sámi participation and has come to hold back the government in the pursuit of strengthening Sámi rights.

An application of the WPR approach allowed the study to disclose how actors are clustered in accordance to their underlying assumptions about Sámi participation. As shown in Table 2 (see appendix 2), there are some clear correlations between: the actors, the category they belong to, and identified problem representations. For instance, the Sámi parliament, SSR and Kiruna Sameförening have to a great extent a common understanding of what they perceive as problems in regard to Sámi participation. Central for these actors' problematisation of a duty to consult, is the understanding that 'FPIC must be the basis for indigenous rights in Sweden' (table 2, line 1, appendix 2), FPIC is recognized as a strong instrument for

indigenous peoples' opportunity to influence decision-making processes and to provide the means to ensure effective participation.

Furthermore, by looking at how the actors are clustered conflicting perspectives regarding Sámi participation become apparent, with a clear contrast between the perspectives of Sámi and industrial actors. The remaining groups, municipalities, CABs and governmental agencies are more scattered, sharing the understandings of both Sámi and industrial actors.

When scrutinizing the identified problem representations within the group of Sámi actors, the same can be said as with the industrial actors' in regard to the correlation between category belonging and problem representations. The results show that Vattenfall, Svemin and LRF's understandings of Sámi participation in decision-making processes are coupled with negative connotations. Central for these actors' problematisation of a duty to consult is the understanding that 'current legislation is enough to ensure influence for the Sámi people' (table 2, line 8, appendix 2), or in other words 'there is no problem'. Throughout their commentaries they communicate reasons for why a duty to consult would bring about negative consequences for the Swedish state. For instance, that Sámi participation would entail: limited possibilities to reach environmental goals, a threat to the industries access to land, and harmful time-consuming decisionmaking processes. The industrial actors' perception of that a duty to consult would entail delays and costly permit processes is interesting, since a key argument for early consultation is the reverse. Where early consultations are perceived as preferable to foster direct involvement, and thus obtain effective decision-making as well as avoiding complaints (Boyd & Lorefice 2018).

The problem representation I have found most problematic in relation to the possibility of successfully implementing a duty to consult that would strengthen Sámi rights is the assumption that 'consensus is hard to reach in decision-making processes dealing with land-use issues' (table 2, line 10, appendix 2). It is alarming that the state, Vattenfall, LRF, Svemin, SGU & Bergsstaten and the Forest agency share this understanding, which indicates a mistrust in that communication can be used as a tool to improve conflict situations. Admittedly processes dealing with complex land use issues, are characterized by multiple actors that often have conflicting interests. However, that this becomes a reason for why Sámi rights should be limited in decision-making processes I argue is unjustifiable. According to Hallgren (2016) it is fundamental for involved actors to have trust in communication to be able to improve a destructive conflict and turn it into a constructive one. Thus, leading to the conclusion that to be able to develop a duty to consult that respects Sámi rights, it is crucial that measures are taken to reconstruct these actors' assumptions of communication with Sámi

representatives. This could for instance be achieved by adopting metacommunicative methods and strategies to improve the conflict situation, opening up for an understanding of disagreements and how to manage them (ibid.).

The second question asks, "How has the actors' problem representations shaped the development of the duty to consult?" The results from the second part of the analysis show how the suggestions for change put forward by the referral bodies were shaped by their underlying assumptions – their problem representations. Further, the study's results show that several suggestions for change were incorporated in the law proposal. Thus, concluding that the referral bodies' problem representations did have an influence on the state's understanding of Sámi participation.

Here follows a short summary of the suggestions for change that became incorporated in the law proposal:

- The Sámi parliament, a Sámi RHC and Sámi organization should all be viewed as Sámi representatives and shall have an independent right to consultation a result from the Sámi actors' commentaries
- A Sámi representative shall have the right to initiate consultations a result from the Sámi actors' commentaries
- The authorities will decide on the form for consultations, not the Sámi representative a result from SGU & Bergsstaten, Norrbotten CAB and Svemin's commentaries
- That consultation should seek consensus or consent is excluded from the proposal a result from LRF, the Forest agency and Vattenfall's commentaries

The conflicting perspectives found in the commentaries on how much influence the Sámi people should have in decision-making processes, have also been recognized in the government's policy texts. According to Bacchi (2009), "a good deal of public debate rests on binaries and dichotomies" (p. 7). Moreover, an identified binary usually implicates a hierarchy, meaning that one side is considered more important than the other. The binary, or conflicting perspectives, that I have identified in the law proposal is in regard to, either strengthening Sámi rights, or to optimize the prospects of natural resource extraction in Sápmi. Further, it is my reflection that these diverging views have become more distinct throughout the development of the duty to consult. Meaning, that the referral bodies problem representations have influenced the state's perspective on the issue. How these binaries shape the government's understanding of Sámi participation is crucial for the level of influence granted the Sámi people in a duty to consult. It is my understanding that the side valued higher by the state, is the one that favors the prospects of natural resource extraction and economic growth.

Answering the third question of the study, "Why have some problem representations become dominant over others, which problem representations 'stick' leaving others silenced?" The problem representations that have become dominant, which Bacchi (2009) describes as 'sticking' to the law proposal, are principally those understandings that relate to that lack of Sámi participation is not a problem. This thesis shows, that there exists a strong relationship between the state and the industrial actors' understanding of the issues, which I argue is holding back the state's incentive to enhance Sámi participation in Swedish policy-making. For instance, the state's decision to exclude the requirement of seeking consensus or consent in consultations, due to incompatibilities with the principle of equality before the law. I interpreted this decision as a clear positioning of the state, and as a result the Sámi perspective of how important consensus and consent is for Sámi influence was left silenced. The results presented in this study supports the claim of previous research which have stated that the Swedish government holds assumptions that extractive industries and Sámi practices can generally co-exist, arguably there is a discourse of coexistence within Swedish permit processes (Kløcker Larsen et al. 2021, Raitio et al. 2020).

Considering the development of land use in Swedish Sápmi, and the industrial pressure that keeps on rising (Österlin & Raitio 2020), it becomes evident that the power relations in Swedish land planning is in favor of the extractive industries and that the state tends to agree with the interests of industrial actors. For example, the state recently took a number of actions to facilitate the extraction of minerals in Swedish Sápmi, to support the growth of the mining sector (Raitio et al. 2020). According to Saarikoski et al. (2013) actors who hold a superior position in land use planning will not freely come to a negotiation table if they are not required to participate. For this reason it can be assumed that the presuppositions that underpin the understanding that 'current Swedish legislation is enough to ensure effective participation for the Sámi people' (table 2, line 8, appendix 2), is grounded in the notion that they have nothing to gain from an implementation of a duty to consult. Further, the authors argued that the act of changing power relations is crucial to achieve change. Thus, if the power relations in Swedish land planning do not change from how they look today, it can be assumed that an implementation of a duty to consult would hardly provide the means for the Sámi peoples' effective participation.

In conclusion, through the initiative of developing a duty to consult, the state has shown incentives to strengthen Sámi participation. However, after an analysis of underlying assumptions imbedded in the law proposal it can be questioned if the aspiration to strengthen Sámi rights has enough influence to generate actual change and improvements for the Sámi people. The analysis shows that the state values other interests higher than Sámi participation, such as economic gains from extraction of natural resources in Swedish Sápmi. Further, the state's decisions in the policy process display an unwillingness to withstand power in decision-making processes. The development of the duty to consult has so far resulted in a policy proposal that sets out to enhance the Sámi peoples' influence. However, the state's choice to not incorporate the perspectives found most important by the Sámi actors demonstrates the state's ambiguity. Since, arguably it is the Sámi people who have the knowledge of what is needed to enhance their influence in decisions that will affect their traditional territories and livelihoods.

References

Allard, C., 2018. The Rationale for the Duty to Consult Indigenous Peoples: Comparative Reflections from Nordic and Canadian Legal Contexts. *Arctic Review on Law and Politics*. 9, 25-43. doi:10.23865/arctic.v9.729

Anaya, J. (2009). Promotion and protection of all human rights, civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights, including the right to development. (A/HRC/12/34). Human Rights Council, United Nations.

- Anaya, J. (2011). *The situation of the Sami people in the Sápmi region of Norway, Sweden and Finland*. (A/HRC/18/35/Add.2). Human Rights Council, United Nations.
- Bacchi, C.L. (2009). *Analysing policy: What's the problem represented to be?* Pearson Australia: Frenchs Forest. ISBN: 9780733985751.
- Bacchi, C., & Goodwin, S. (2016). Poststructural Policy Analysis A Guide to Practice. [E-book]. New York: Palgrave Pivot. DOI: 10.1057/978-1-137-52546-8.
- Beach, H. (2007). Self-determining the Self: Aspects of Saami Indentity Management in Sweden. Acta Borealia: A Nordic Journal of Circumpolar Societies. 24(1), 1-25
- Bergsstaten (2021). *Om Bergsstaten*. https://sgu.se/bergsstaten/om-bergsstaten/ [2021-05-11]
- Boyd, B., Lorefice, S. (2018). Understanding consultation and engagement of Indigenous Peoples in resource development: A policy framing approach. *Canadian Public Administration*. vol 61(4), 572-595. https://doi.org/10.1111/capa.12301
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* 5th edition, international student edition, London: SAGE.
- Diab, E. (2020). Sweden and Human rights. https://sweden.se/society/swedenand-human-rights/ [2021-05-13]
- Dorotea kommun (2021). Saepmie. https://dorotea.se/saepmie/ [2021-05-11]
- Extinction rebellion (2021). *Aktivisternas krav till Sveaskog lämna Juoksuvaara*. 3 maj, 11.40. https://extinctionrebellion.se/aktivisternaskrav-till-sveaskog-lamna-juoksuvaara/ [2021-05-03]
- Forsgren, R (2020). Free, prior and informed consent. En rättslig analys av förslaget till en ny ordning för konsultation med det samiska folket genom Ds 2017:43. (Master thesis 2020) Umeå university. Law department.

General Assembly (2007). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 13 September 2007 – 61/295. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. (A/RES/61/295). United Nations. http://undocs.org/A/RES/61/295

 Hallgren, L. (2016). Reframing conflict in natural resource management: Mutuality, reciprocity, and pluralistic agonism as dynamics of community constructivity and destructivity. In Petersson et al.: Environmental Communication and Community: Constructive and Destructive Dynamics of Social Transformation. London: Routledge. 16-29

- Human Rights Committee (2009). *Consideration of reports submitted by state parties under article 40 of the covenant.* (CCPR/C/SWE/CO/6). New York: United Nations. https://undocs.org/en/CCPR/C/SWE/CO/6
- Kløcker Larsen, R., Raitio, K. (2019). Implementing the State Duty to Consult in Land and Resource Decisions: Perspectives from Sami Communities and Swedish State Officials. *Arctic Review on Law and Politics*. 10, 4-23. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.23865/arctic.v10.1323</u>
- Kløcker Larsen, R., Raitio, K., Stinnerbom, M., Wik-Karlsson, J. (2017). Samistate collaboration in the governance of cumulative effects assessment: A critical action research approach. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review.* 64, 67-76. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2017.03.003</u>
- Kløcker Larsen, R., Skarin, A., Stinnerbom, M., Vannar, J., Alam, M., Kuhmunen, M., Lawrence, R., Nygård, J., Raitio, K., Sandström, P., Sandström, S., Stinnerbom, J., Wik-Karlsson, J., Österlin, C. (2020). *Omtvistade landskap – Navigering mellan konkurrerande markanvändning och kumulativa effekter*. (6908). Stockholm: Naturvårdsverket.
- Kulturdepartementet (2017). *Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket*. (Promemoria Ds 2017:43) Stockholm: Regeringskansliet
- Kulturdepartementet (2019). *En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket*. (Utkast till lagrådsremiss Ku2019/01308/RS) Stockholm: Regeringskansliet
- Kulturdepartementet (2020). *En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket.* (Regeringens Proposition 2020/21:64) Stockholm: Regeringskansliet
- Lantbrukarnas Riksförbund (2021). Om LRF. https://lrf.se/om-lrf/ [2021-05-11]
- Lawrence, R. (2014). Internal colonisation and Indigenous resource sovereignty: wind power developments on traditional Saami lands. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*. 32, 1036-1053. DOI: 10.1068/d9012
- Lawrence, R., Mörkenstam, U. (2016). Indigenous Self-determination through a Government Agency? The Impossible Task of the Swedish Sámediggi. *International Journal on Minority and Group Rights*. 23(1), 105-127. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/26557834

- LRF Skogsägarna (2021). Om LRF Skogsägarna. https://lrf.se/omlrf/organisation/branschavdelningar/lrf-skogsagarna/las-mer-om-lrfskogsagarna/ [2021-05-11]
- Länsstyrelsen Jämtlands län (2021). *Rennäring*. https://lansstyrelsen.se/jamtland/djur/rennaring.html [2021-05-11]

Länsstyrelsen Norrbotten (2021). Rennäring.

https://lansstyrelsen.se/norrbotten/djur/rennaring.html [2021-05-11] Länsstyrelsen Västerbotten (2021). *Rennäring*.

https://lansstyrelsen.se/vasterbotten/djur/rennaring.html [2021-05-11]

- Naturvårdsverket (2021). *Om Naturvårdsverket*. https://naturvardsberket.se/Om-Naturvardsverket/ [2021-05-11]
- Raitio, K., Allard, C., Lawrence, R. (2020) Mineral extraction in Swedish Sápmi: The regulatory gap between Sami rights and Swedish mining permitting practices. *Land Use Policy*. 99, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.105001

Reimerson, E. (2013). Between nature and culture: exploring space for indigenous agency in the Convention on Biological Diversity. *Environmental Politics*. 22:6, 992-1009. DOI: 10.1080/09644016.2012.737255

- Saarikoski, H., Raitio, K., Barry, J. (2013). Understanding 'successful' conflict resolution: Policy regime changes and new interactive arenas in the Great Bear Rainforest. *Land Use Policy*. 32, 271-280. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.10.019
- Sameradion & SVT Sápmi (2021). Regeringen drar tillbaka förslag om konsultationsordningen. [Radio Programme]. Sveriges Radio, May 2. https://sverigesradio.se/artikel/regeringen-drar-tillbaka-forslag-omkonsultationsordningen
- Sametinget (2021a). *Förvaltningskommuner i det samiska området*. https://sametinget.se/24399 [2021-05-11]
- Sametinget (2021b). *Folkvalt organ och myndighet*. https://sametinget.se/bakgrund [2021-05-11]
- Silverman, D. (2015). *Interpreting Qualitative Data*. Fifth Edition, London: SAGE Publications.
- Skielta, A. (2021). Sameföreningar i Sverige. https://samer.se/5009 [2021-05-11]
- Skogsstyrelsen (2021). Om oss. https://skogsstyrelsen.se/om-oss/ [2021-05-11]
- Stockholms universitet (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska foldet, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- SveMin AB (2021). Om oss. https://svemin.se/om-oss/ [2021-05-11]
- Svenska Samernas Riksförbund (2021). *Om SSR*. https://sapmi.se/om-ssr/ [2021-05-11]
- Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning (2021). Om SGU. https://sgu.se/om-sgu/ [2021-05-11]
- The Swedish Government Offices (2021). *Remisser*. https://www.regeringen.se/remisser/ (2021-05-04)

Vattenfall AB (2021). *Om oss*. https://group.vattenfall.com/se/om-oss [2021-05-11]

Ward, T. (2011). The right to free, prior, and informed consent: indigenous peoples' participation rights within international law. *Northwestern Journal of International Human Rights*. 10, 54-84.

http://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/njihr/vol10/iss2/2 Åre kommun (2021). *Rennäring och samebyar*.

https://are.se/naringslivjobb/rennaringochsamebyar [2021-05-11]

- Österlin, C. (2020). Nature conservation, landscape change and indigenous rights – The role of Sámi reindeer herding for environmental objectives in the Swedish mountain landscape. (Doctoral Thesis 2020) Stockholm University. Physical Geography.
- Österlin, C., Raitio, K. (2020). Fragmented Landscapes and Planscapes–The Double Pressure of Increasing Natural Resource Exploitation on Indigenous Sámi Lands in Northern Sweden. *Resources*. 9, 104, 1-27. DOI:10.3390/resources9090104

Referral bodies commentaries

- Dorotea kommun (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Dorotea kommun (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Kiruna kommun (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Kiruna kommun (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Kiruna Sameförening (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Kiruna Sameförening (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Lantbrukarnas Riksförbund (LRF) & LRF Skogsägarna (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Lantbrukarnas Riksförbund (LRF) & LRF Skogsägarna (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Länsstyrelsen Jämtlands län (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Länsstyrelsen Jämtlands län (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).

Länsstyrelsen Norrbottens län (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).

- Länsstyrelsen Norrbottens län (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Länsstyrelsen Västerbottens län (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Länsstyrelsen Västerbottens län (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Naturvårdsverket (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Naturvårdsverket (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Sámiid Riikkasearvi (SSR) (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Sámiid Riikkasearvi (SSR) (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- The Sámi Parliament (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- The Sámi Parliament (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Skogsstyrelsen (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Skogsstyrelsen (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Svemin AB (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Svemin AB (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning & Bergsstaten (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).
- Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning & Bergsstaten (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).
- Vattenfall (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).

Vattenfall (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).

Åre kommun (2017). Yttrande över promemorian Konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket, Ds 2017:43 (Ku2017/01905/DISK).

Åre kommun (2019). Yttrande över utkast till lagrådsremiss En konsultationsordning i frågor som rör det samiska folket (Ku2019/01308/RS).

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Rasmus Kløcker Larsen who has been an inspiration and a great help for me throughout this process. I also want thank my sisters and parents for all the support. Lastly, thanks to SLU for room Z, the ping-pong table and all the great people I have met here during these two years.

Appendix 1 Selection of referral bodies

Category	Actor	Description							
County administrative board	Jämtland (J CAB)	Manages the rights of use in large parts of Sweden's protected mountain areas together with Västerbotten & Norrbotten region. The region has a Reindeer husbandry delegation, which has the purpose to promote the development of the reindeer husbandry industry, by supporting development projects and monitoring the reindeer husbandry industry's interests in community and environmental planning (Länsstyrelsen Jämtlands län 2021)							
	Västerbotten (V CAB)	Manages the rights of use in protected mountain areas, and has a Reindeer husbandry delegation (Länsstyrelsen Västerbotten 2021).							
	Norrbotten (N CAB)	Manages the rights of use in protected mountain areas, and has a Reindeer husbandry delegation (Länsstyrelsen Norrbotten 2021).							
Municipalities	Åre (Å)	Municipality in Jämtland's region, five Sámi reindeer herding communities operate in the region. An administrative area for Sámi, meaning that Sámis' have the right to use their language in contacts with the municipality and authorities in the area (Åre kommun 2021).							
	Dorotea (D)	Municipality in Västerbotten's region, two Sámi reindeer herding communities operate in the region, administrative area for Sámi (Dorotea kommun 2021).							
	Kiruna (K)	Municipality in Norrbotten's region. The Sámi parliament's headquarters is located in the municipality, administrative area for Sámi (Sametinget 2021a).							
Governmental agenices	Swedish Environmental Protection agency (SEPA)	Responsible for issues related to climate, biodiversity, pollution, environmental monitoring, hunting and environmental research (Naturvårdsverket 2021).							
	Swedish Forest agency (FA)	Authority for issues concerning forests, a supervisory authority, checks that laws and regulations regarding forests are followed, makes decisions and provides permits (Skogsstyrelsen 2021).							
	Sweden's Geological Survey & Bergsstaten (SGU & B)	Sweden's Geological Survey wrote their commentary together with Bergsstaten. Are responsible for issues concerning mountain, soil ar groundwater in Sweden and decides on issues according to the Reindeer Husbandry Act and the Minerals Act (Sveriges Geologiska Undersökning 2021).							
		Bergsstaten is a special decision-making body that organizationally belongs to SGU and handles matters concerning exploration and extraction of minerals (Bergsstaten 2021).							
Industry	Vattenfall AB (V)	Owned by the Swedish state and is one of Europe's largest producers and resellers of electricity and heat (Vattenfall AB 2021).							
	Svemin AB (SVE)	Trade association for mines, mineral and metal producers in Sweden (Svemin AB 2021).							
	Lantbrukarnas Riksförbund & LRF Skogsägarna (LRF)	Lantbrukarnas Riksförbund (LRF) is a politically independent organization for people and companies within rural green industries, working with the development of companies within soil, forest and garden (Lantbrukarnas Riksförbund 2021).							
		LRF Skogsägarna is a department within LRF with responsibility for forestry issues (LRF Skogsägarna 2021).							
Sámi	Sámi Parliament (SP)	The Sámi peoples elected body and a state authority, which was inaugurated in 1993 with the to improve the Swedish Sámi peoples opportunities as an indigenous peoples to preserve and develop their culture (Sametinget 2021b).							
	Svenska Samernas Riksförbund (SSR)	Politically independent interest organization with the aim to promote reindeer husbandry, Sámi business and social issues (Svenska Samernas Riksförbund 2021).							
	Kiruna Sameförening (KS)	One of about 30 local Sámi associations in Sweden (Skielta 2021).							

Appendix 2

Table 2 overview of the actors' problem representations

	Problem representations	Sweden Sámi		Municipalities			Industry			Governmental agencies			County Admin. Boards				
		GOV	SP	KS	SSR	D	Å	K	V	LRF	SVE	SGU&B	FA	SEPA	N CAB	V CAB	J CAB
1	FPIC must be the basis for indigenous rights in Sweden.																
2	Measures need to be taken to strengthen Sámi influence in decision-making processes.											SGU					
3	Underfunding would complicate the implementation of the duty to consult.																
4	Fundamental knowledge about indigenous- and Sámi rights is lacking.																
5	International critique has created a negative image of Sweden's management of indigenous rights.																
6	A need to improve the agencies' understanding of the Sámi peoples perspectives and vice versa.																
7	Complex and time consuming decision-making processes are harmful to Swedish infrastructure.																
8	Current legislation is enough to ensure influence for the Sámi people.											Bergs- staten					
9	Authorities should be objective in decision-making and take all interests into account.																
10	Consensus is hard to reach in decision-making processes dealing with land-use issues.																
11	There is a need to swiftly implement environmental goals.																
12	Enhanced Sámi influence could threaten the industries access to land.																